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          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Welcome to this

          3  afternoon's hearing, and, we are honored to be

          4  joined by the Speaker of the City Council, Gifford

          5  Miller.  We have been joined by Council Members, Joe

          6  Addabbo, from Queens, Helen Sears, from Queens, and,

          7  other members are on their way.  There is a hearing

          8  going on next door, so, there will be members who

          9  will be coming back and forth, between these two

         10  hearings, but, we do have a very important topic for

         11  this afternoon's Committee on Transportation

         12  hearing.

         13                 At this time, I am pleased to have

         14  Gifford Miller, the Speaker of the City Council, to

         15  begin this meeting.

         16                 SPEAKER MILLER:  Well, thank you, Mr.

         17  Chairman.  I want to start by thanking you for your

         18  leadership, in leading this Committee, and the

         19  Council in general, on the issues of transportation,

         20  which are so incredibly important to the people of

         21  the City of New York, and all the members of the

         22  Committee, and my colleagues.

         23                 I want to welcome both of the

         24  Comptrollers who are here.  We are very proud of the

         25  work that you have done, and appreciative of the
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          2  work that you have done, on behalf of the people of

          3  the City and the State of New York, and appreciate

          4  your willingness to come here, and share that work

          5  clearly and openly and forthrightly with the public.

          6                 And I want to say at this point that

          7  I am outraged that the MTA is unwilling to come to

          8  this hearing and discuss openly and honestly and

          9  forthrightly their finances and their decision.  And

         10  I think, frankly, it is just an example of the

         11  problem and an example of why it is that we are

         12  here, why it is that a court is having a serious

         13  hearing on the subject of their decision, and why it

         14  is the findings of the Comptrollers are so

         15  concerning and troublesome to the people of the City

         16  and the State of New York.

         17                 This Council said for months, prior

         18  to the MTA's vote on a fare hike, that we felt that

         19  is was financially unnecessary and that the MTA had

         20  not been adequately forthcoming in explaining its

         21  reasoning and unveiling to the public its finances.

         22                 We were told that we did not know how

         23  to read the balance books, and I guess it turns out

         24  that is because they were not very clearly showing

         25  what the balance books really showed. And in fact in
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          2  the final analysis our reading was accurate, and I

          3  know we are going to here from the both of you on

          4  what your findings were.  But we said months before

          5  the vote, that we believe the MTA had the money to

          6  avoid this.  And I think it is really important for

          7  us to understand very clearly what the principle at

          8  stake here is; and that is, that the MTA is supposed

          9  to make decisions about fare hikes that are in the

         10  best interests of all the people of the State of New

         11  York.

         12                 It is a public authority, and it is

         13  acting on the public's behalf.  And there is no

         14  question that as time marches on that there reaches

         15  a point at which fare hikes become necessary.  We

         16  all live in the real world and prices tend to go up

         17  and not down, and that is the reality.

         18                 So, the only question is, at what

         19  point does a fare hike become necessary?  Because

         20  until then it is a terrible decision to tax New

         21  Yorkers and working New Yorkers and make the cost of

         22  doing business and living and moving around more

         23  burdensome to businesses and residents alike.

         24                 There is no question that a fare hike

         25  is a job killing tax increase.  And so I think that
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          2  the Council's position always was, and remains, that

          3  you do not take that step until it is absolutely

          4  necessary.  Particularly, in these type of fiscal

          5  times. With our economy struggling, with us losing

          6  jobs, with people being asked to give more of their

          7  hard-earned dollars and trying to stretch them a

          8  little further, to do a fare increase before it is

          9  absolutely necessary is unconscionable, and a

         10  terrible idea from an economical point of view.  And

         11  that is why we said we wanted to see the books

         12  first.  We wanted to clearly understand what the

         13  situation was, and we felt that it was not

         14  necessary.

         15                 To draw the analogy, if the State of

         16  New York were to have been running massive surpluses

         17  for years and years and years up to until this year,

         18  and in the past year was to run an additional

         19  massive surplus, it would be impossible to imagine

         20  that the Governor would have called for a broad, 33

         21  percent tax increases in order to solve potential

         22  fiscal problems that are coming in outyears

         23  considerably down the road.  He would never do that,

         24  because it would be irresponsible, particularly in

         25  these very difficult times.  And, yet, that is
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          2  exactly what it appears the MTA did in this case.

          3  They were running considerable surpluses, they

          4  seemed to have, according to your analysis, and we

          5  look forward to hearing the results of those, so

          6  that people can really understand them.  But from

          7  what I gather they have seemed to have hid some of

          8  their surpluses, reinterpreted the facts to disguise

          9  the actually fiscal situation, in order to justify a

         10  fare increase that was not potentially necessary.

         11  That is outrageous conduct.  And I am particularly

         12  disturbed that they are not willing, if they really

         13  feel that this was the right thing to do on the

         14  merits on behalf of the public, they should be

         15  willing to come here and discuss with the public,

         16  what the merits of their case were.

         17                 It is my experience that when

         18  somebody hides, they have something to hide.  So, I

         19  am very disappointed that they are not here.  But I

         20  am very, very, grateful that both of you are here

         21  and I want on behalf of the Council and the people

         22  of the City of New York thank both of you for your

         23  work in bringing to light the fiscal situation and

         24  putting before the public what the real figures are,

         25  and giving the public then an opportunity to hold
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          2  those accountable who made their decisions.

          3                 So, thank you both for being here,

          4  and let me turn it back to the Chairman for him to

          5  run this Committee hearing.

          6                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON:  Mr. Speaker,

          7  before the Chair starts, the one thing that I would

          8  like to do, also, is to thank you and Chairman Lui,

          9  and the members of the Council, know you have taken

         10  a leadership position against a fare increase months

         11  and months ago and continue to speak out against it.

         12  And, no, I remember the, I guess the hearing that

         13  was held here, where the MTA said, I believe it was

         14  Chairman Lui, at that point, I do not know if you

         15  were there or not, but, in fact, the Council did not

         16  understand the numbers.

         17                 Well, clearly after the fact we have

         18  found that the no one understood the numbers.  If

         19  you listen to the MTA, they are the only ones who

         20  understand the strange system of bookkeeping that

         21  they have employed.

         22                 So, I would like to thank you because

         23  know in fact you and the Chairman and the members of

         24  the City Council took a position against this, until

         25  you were shown the numbers, and I think until the
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          2  people of this City and State were shown the

          3  numbers, so, I would like to thank you for the

          4  position that you took on this.

          5                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: Like what he

          6  said, I agree.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you,

          8  Comptrollers.  And thank you, Mr. Speaker, for your

          9  leadership in making sure that we stay focused on

         10  the relevant issues.

         11                 We have been joined by members of

         12  this Committee, Andrew Lanza, Councilman from Staten

         13  Island, Oliver Koppell, Council Member from the

         14  Bronx, and Mike Nelson, Council Member from

         15  Brooklyn, and as I mentioned before, there will be

         16  people coming in back and forth between the two

         17  hearings that are going on concurrently.

         18                 I want to echo everything that our

         19  Speaker has already said.

         20                 I think the main issue at hand is the

         21  agency, that millions of New Yorkers, rely upon, on

         22  a daily basis, mostly to get to and from work, and

         23  at this time when we are a City that is trying to

         24  recover our economic base, our financial viability,

         25  we need the MTA, more than ever before, and the
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          2  issue is as simple as making sure people are able to

          3  get to and from work.  We do not want, the lack or

          4  the inaccessibility, or the expense of

          5  transportation to get in the way.

          6                 Now, from the beginning, this

          7  Committee and the Council, we have never said, do

          8  not raise the fares simply because we do not want

          9  fares.  We have always said, as early as our October

         10  10th resolution, which was unanimously passed, in

         11  this Committee and then passed by the Council on

         12  October 23rd, that before any fare increase is

         13  undertaken, give us the financial backup information

         14  that would justify any need for a fare increase.

         15                 And then in the ensuing months, when

         16  were able to get our hands on more information,

         17  information that was more concise and easily

         18  obtainable as opposed to voluminous information that

         19  was mostly comprised of irrelevant data, in the

         20  ensuing months when we got that relevant and concise

         21  information, we made a determination that, indeed

         22  the City, the MTA did not need to increase fares

         23  this year.  And while we did not say that there

         24  would never need to be a fare increase, that

         25  certainly at this time, not only did they not need
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          2  to do it, but it was the worst possible time to do

          3  it. And, yet, the MTA went ahead and increased the

          4  fares on working New Yorkers.

          5                 Now, I just want to take a minute

          6  before I asked our Comptrollers to review their

          7  findings with us. The events, or certain key events,

          8  leading up to where we are today.

          9                 As I mentioned before, in October

         10  that the City Council passed a unanimous resolution

         11  asking the MTA to provide back up information.  In

         12  January we stated very clearly that they did not

         13  need to do it, they did not need to increase fares,

         14  and that was subsequent to a January 17th hearing at

         15  which the Executive Director of the Metropolitan

         16  Transportation Authority testified.

         17                 Let me just back up to October again,

         18  and say that in our October hearings the MTA said

         19  that they had absolutely no information about

         20  whether a fare increase was necessary or not. That

         21  was on October 10th they said that.  In mid-November

         22  they came out with an assertion that they were

         23  facing a $2.8 billion deficit.  And they stuck with

         24  that $2.8 billion deficit through the negotiations

         25  with the Transport Workers Union, in the beginning
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          2  to mid-parts of December, and they stuck by that

          3  assertion through our January 17th hearing.  And in

          4  fact, a week before our January 17th hearing, they

          5  posted fliers throughout the subway system alerting

          6  customers, alerting the riding public, that they

          7  were faced with a 2.8 billion deficit, and that is

          8  why they needed to consider raising fares.

          9                 Well, at our hearing on January 17th,

         10  the Executive Director then clarified that the $2.8

         11  billion was a gross gap in contrast to a $950

         12  million net gap.  And we tried to understand exactly

         13  what the difference was between a gross gap and a

         14  net gap, and it turns out that the difference is due

         15  to cost-saving measures that the MTA had already

         16  been able to enact. And, so that in reality the

         17  revenue that they needed from fare increases was

         18  needed not to plug $2.8 billion deficit, but to plug

         19  a deficit that was in actuality less then $1

         20  billion.  So, the deficit was misleadingly large

         21  even on posters that were on display for the riding

         22  public.

         23                 There are more credibility issues

         24  that ensued.  We asked in February that the MTA not

         25  increase fares, because, again, there was enough of
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          2  a surplus, enough money on hand, to allow them to

          3  continue their operations.

          4                 In the middle of February, rumors

          5  began to circulate, that the MTA was going to

          6  conduct a special board meeting, one that was not on

          7  their regular calendar, and one that no one knew

          8  about.  And in mid-February, the MTA decided to have

          9  a special board meeting on March 6th, to hold a vote

         10  on whether there should be a fare increase or not.

         11                 We asked them not to do this.

         12  Because number one, it was a special board meeting

         13  that people did not know about.

         14                 Number two, the State Comptroller was

         15  still conducting his review of the MTA's financials.

         16                 Number three, the City Comptroller

         17  was still conducting his review of the financials of

         18  New York City Transit.

         19                 And number four, the financial

         20  statements for the year of 2002 were not even

         21  available yet.  And they decided to go ahead with

         22  the special board meeting on March 6th, before the

         23  reviews of the audit of the Comptrollers were ready,

         24  and before they even had 2002 financial information.

         25                 Now, we asked them, "Can't you just
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          2  hold off the vote for a few weeks?"  And they went

          3  ahead, they denied that, and they went ahead with

          4  the vote anyway, in the absence of complete and

          5  up-to-date financial information, information that

          6  was clearly was necessary to make an informed

          7  decision, a decision that would have ramifications

          8  upon millions and millions of New Yorkers.

          9                 These actions certainly lead me to

         10  question the credibility of not only the financials

         11  of this massive agency that millions of New Yorkers

         12  rely upon, but it also leads me to question the

         13  veracity of the Chairman's recent statements, and

         14  the Executive Director's statements back in January,

         15  that they were trying to create more transparency in

         16  the operations of their agency, and that they wanted

         17  to help the public understand better what was going

         18  on.

         19                 If they had really wanted to do that,

         20  they would not have made such hasty decisions in the

         21  absence of complete information, when they could

         22  simply could have waited a mere three weeks for

         23  updated 2002 financial information, and a mere six

         24  weeks until they received the complete results of

         25  the auditors, of the audit reports and reviews of
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          2  the Comptrollers.

          3                 Let me continue my comments later.

          4  But let me invite at this time the Comptrollers to

          5  present us with their findings, after I mention that

          6  Council Member Diana Reyna, from Brooklyn, has

          7  joined us as well in this Committee hearing.

          8                 Thank you, gentlemen, for joining us

          9  this afternoon.

         10                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON, JR.:  At this

         11  point, we have spoken together so many times, it has

         12  become a well-organized discussion back and forth

         13  between the two of us.

         14                 I am going to start, and then we will

         15  go to Comptroller Havesi.  And I would like to say

         16  that over the last ten days, or two weeks, the

         17  Comptroller and I have had the opportunity,

         18  obviously, to do and to talk about the finances of

         19  the Transit Authority and the MTA a number of times

         20  in a number of venues, and it has been, as I said, a

         21  pleasure to work closely with him in his office over

         22  that period of time.  I think that we have both

         23  worked hard to serve this people of this City and

         24  the State.  Alan, job well done in your office.

         25                 But thank you, Mr. Speaker, Chairman
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          2  Lui, Members of the Council, I would like to thank

          3  you for providing me this opportunity to discuss the

          4  results of my audit of the Transit Authority.

          5                 In December, my office announced an

          6  audit of the Transit Authority's procedures for

          7  recording and reporting financial and statistical

          8  data.  I became increasingly concerned, because

          9  transit officials appeared to presenting a

         10  constantly shifting portrait of the Transit

         11  Authority's financial status that seemed more

         12  convenient than accurate.

         13                 Prior to the 2002 gubernatorial

         14  election, the MTA claimed a surplus, which would

         15  have made a fare increase unnecessary.

         16                 Just after the election, however, the

         17  MTA began claiming a deficit, and as labor

         18  negotiations with transit workers began, with local

         19  100, with Transport Workers Union, they reported

         20  even a larger deficit.  This confusing picture

         21  raised a red flag signaling something was not right.

         22                 After three months of analyzing the

         23  Transit Authority's finances, I have concluded that

         24  the MTA has broken its public trust and misled New

         25  Yorkers with unclear and inaccurate reporting of its
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          2  financial position.  Based on these findings, it is

          3  clear that the MTA is an agency in serious need of

          4  reform.

          5                 I am not alone in this conclusion.

          6  Soon after we announced out audit of the Transit

          7  Authority, State Comptroller Alan Hevesi, initiated

          8  a separate financial review of the Metropolitan

          9  Transportation Authority.

         10                 Despite the fact that our offices did

         11  not share notes during our parallel investigations,

         12  we came to remarkably similar conclusions.  This

         13  reinforces our main point, the MTA has not been

         14  forthright in presenting its financial position to

         15  the public.

         16                 As a first step toward restoring

         17  public confidence, the MTA Board should delay

         18  implementing the fare hike, convene new public

         19  hearings on the issue, and then vote again, this

         20  time using accurate books and real numbers to

         21  determine if there is a need for fare increase.

         22                 The issue is clear.  Straphangers

         23  should not be asked to accept a fare hike without

         24  accurate evidence that one is necessary.  That is

         25  currently not the case.
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          2                 We have found that the books used by

          3  the MTA's Board to determine the need for an

          4  increase were incomplete, misleading, and

          5  obfuscating.  There is simply no way these books

          6  could have provided the Board with the basis for

          7  sound policy making.

          8                 My audit made five key findings.

          9                 First, it found an undisclosed $300

         10  million account that was characterized as an

         11   "investment pool".  What this money was for, how it

         12  was spent, and when it was spent, or if it was

         13  spent, remains a mystery, because the MTA refused to

         14  disclose the information.

         15                 Second, the Transit Authority's

         16  numbers just do not add up.  We discovered that

         17  contrary to General Accounting, Generally Accepted

         18  Accounting Principles, GAP, the Transit Authority

         19  improperly included capital costs and interest

         20  expense on long-term debt as operating expenses on

         21  its financial statements.

         22                 Specifically, the Transit Authority's

         23  financial statements overstated operating expenses

         24  by approximately $859 million, or 16.1 percent of

         25  all reported expenses in Fiscal Year 2001.  In the
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          2  draft Fiscal Year 2002 statement the agency

          3  overstated expenses by approximately $852 million

          4  also, or 15.5 percent of reported operating

          5  expenses. This kind of accounting error gave the

          6  impression that the Authority's operating deficit,

          7  was actually larger than it was, and exaggerated the

          8  need for a fare hike.

          9                 Third, the Transit Authority's 2003

         10  operating budget proposal was woefully incomplete.

         11  It lacked basic, critical information, such as the

         12  cost associated with the recent collective

         13  bargaining agreement, and the additional revenues

         14  that transit officials believed a fare hike would

         15  produce.

         16                 Conveniently, the Board voted to

         17  approve a revised budget that included this

         18  information three weeks after approving the fare

         19  increase.  The agency even tripped over its own

         20  numbers. The proposal contained conflicting

         21  deficits.  On one page it put the deficit at $1.6

         22  billion and on another at over $2 billion.

         23                 The public, elected officials, and

         24  the MTA board, put their faith in a document that

         25  told two different stories.
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          2                 Fourth, the Transit Authority, over

          3  estimated the drop in ridership due to the fare

          4  increase, contrary to its own historical date.  This

          5  served to deflate future revenues, and further

          6  justified their call for 33 percent fare hike.  The

          7  Transit Authority's Fare Revenue Model, which it

          8  used to project revenue from the fare increase,

          9  assumed a three to ten percent drop-off.

         10  But after the last fare hike in 1995, ridership

         11  decreased for only a few months before it began

         12  increasing.  Total ridership in 1996, was actually

         13  higher than in 1995.  And since the last fare hike,

         14  ridership has steadily increased from over 1.5

         15  billion rides in '95, to over 2.1 billion rides in

         16  2002, a 36 percent increase. More accurate revenue

         17  projections may have led to a lower fare increase.

         18                 Finally, my audit confirmed that the

         19  New York City transit riders get shortchanged by

         20  paying a larger share of their system's budget,

         21  compared to their suburban counterparts who ride the

         22  MTA's commuter lines.

         23                 While Straphangers are financing 17.5

         24  percent of the Transit Authority's projected budget

         25  deficit, the riders of the commuter roads,
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          2  railroads, and Long Island Bus, will contribute an

          3  average of about nine and a half percent towards

          4  reducing those entities projected operating

          5  deficits.  Clearly, New York City transit riders are

          6  paying much more than their fair share.

          7                 Given the results of my audit, it is

          8  clear that the MTA needs, must act to attempt to

          9  restore public trust.

         10                 First, and foremost, the MTA Board

         11  must immediately reevaluate the need for the fare

         12  increase.  The MTA, however, has, steadfastly

         13  refused to do so.  That is why I am glad to see that

         14  the Straphangers Campaign has filed suit in court.

         15  My office has filed an affidavit in support of that

         16  request for a temporary restraining order, it so

         17  far, has not been granted, however, the judge has

         18  ordered a hearing for next Friday, and called

         19  parties in to testify regarding the MTA's finances

         20  and the real need for a fare increase.

         21                 Additionally, the Transit Authority

         22  and the MTA must take other actions.  The Transit

         23  Authority must insure that capital costs are

         24  properly reported on its financial statements in

         25  accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting
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          2  Principles.

          3                 Last week, I indicated that before

          4  they can move forward, or before they should not

          5  move forward with future budget proposals, and

          6  proposals asking for fare hikes, that an independent

          7  task force review those, those documents, before

          8  they are presented for approval.

          9                 However, I know you will hear later,

         10  I know that State Comptroller has made

         11  recommendations at the very least for his review of

         12  their financial documents before they proceed in

         13  that area and I fully agree with that, and that

         14  would make a lot of sense.

         15                 And, finally, the MTA should take in

         16  co account he amount of operating expense already

         17  paid for by riders, when considering future fare

         18  increases for the Transit Authority, Commuter

         19  Railroads, and Long Island bus.

         20                 We need to change the MTA culture

         21  that leads its officials to believe that the system

         22  belongs to them, and that they are accountable to no

         23  one.

         24                 I was pleased to hear that the MTA

         25  acknowledged some of the findings of our audit.
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          2  Clearly, transit officials are contemplating and

          3  talking about reform only because of the State

          4  Comptroller's and my report, and the public pressure

          5  that has followed and it has forced their hand.

          6                 That said, I welcome changes that

          7  will lead to real accuracy and transparency in the

          8  agency's finances.  The MTA has an obligation to the

          9  public to be open and honest about the state of its

         10  finances.

         11                 And, once again, I would like to

         12  thank Chairman Lui, and the City Council Members,

         13  for their support on the matter that effects the

         14  nearly seven million transit riders who use the

         15  system everyday.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LUI:  Thank you,

         17  Comptroller Thompson. And I want to welcome,

         18  Comptroller Hevesi to City Council Chambers.  Thank

         19  you for your time.

         20                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON:  Thank you, Mr.

         21  Chairman.  It is good to be back.

         22                 MR. HEVESI:  Thanks to you, to the

         23  Committee on Transportation, to Speaker Miller, for

         24  giving Bill Thompson and myself this opportunity.

         25  Bill and I have been good friends and good partners
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          2  in this effort and other efforts.  But we are

          3  professionals, and I want the record to be very

          4  clear that once we determined that we would pursue

          5  the issues involving the finances of the TA and the

          6  MTA, we would do so independently of each other.

          7  And it was only two weeks ago, a week before we made

          8  our findings public, that we each had a sense of the

          9  direction, not even the details, but the direction

         10  of each of our studies.

         11                 That they reached the same

         12  conclusions, I guess it is not remarkable, because

         13  both offices are very expert and very professional.

         14                 Second comment.  The MTA, always

         15  tells the public at every hearing that they must

         16  open a transparent agency imaginable. My experience

         17  with them began immediately after our conversations,

         18  and before I was sworn into State Comptroller.  I

         19  was sworn in on January 1st, on January 3rd, my

         20  staff, lead by our Chief Investigator, Ken Blywas

         21  (phonetic), who is sitting over here, is Deputy

         22  Comptroller for the Special, Special Deputy

         23  Comptroller for New York City under the Financial

         24  Control Act.  That is a separate office we have.

         25                 And I asked them to begin the
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          2  process.  On January 3rd, he and his staff met with

          3  MTA, asked lots of questions, did not get

          4  appropriate responses.  Asked for information in

          5  writing, the writing came in on January 9th, and

          6  they were not responsive. We continued

          7  conversations.  Finally, in February, sent a letter

          8  to them, a Comptroller-type letter, with 30 detailed

          9  questions, each question having multiply parts to

         10  get the total picture of their financial status.

         11  They responded to every question, but they did not

         12  answer the questions.

         13                 And the analogy I have been using is,

         14  if the question is how much is two and two, and the

         15  answer is, "how 'bout those Knicks?"  That is a

         16  response, it is not an answer.  That is what we got.

         17  Evasions, references to their web site, and even

         18  false answers.  For example, they have not filed

         19  since 1999 a five-year plan mandated by Section

         20  1269-D of the Public Authority's Law, and when we

         21  asked them why in writing, their answer was it

         22  conflicted with another section of law, and that was

         23  false.  It was just flat out false.

         24                 I am submitting to you, by the way, a

         25  written statement, and I just want to summarize with
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          2  some observations.

          3                 After we made our revelations, let me

          4  summarize "our revelations".

          5                 Number one.  In the year 2002, an

          6  election year, I think that there was a

          7  predetermined judgement by the MTA, they would not

          8  allow a fare increase, no matter what.  And they

          9  ended the year officially with a $24.6 million

         10  surplus.  That is their number.

         11                 The 2002 financials are critical,

         12  because in December of 2002 they issued a financial

         13  plan which became the basis for the fare increase

         14  three months later that they voted on March 6, 2003.

         15  The truth is that that 424.6 million surplus should

         16  have been $537 million for 2002.  Why?  Because they

         17  hid, nearly $600 million, in a variety of

         18  transactions.  They hid money in a stabilization

         19  account, separately in a corporate account.  They

         20  earmarked 2002 revenues for the year 2003 and 2004,

         21  prepayment of debt, they are not obligated to spend

         22  it, but they took it off the books as revenues for

         23  those years.

         24                 How do we know?  They did not make

         25  these transactions public.  We discovered that they
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          2  had a separate set of books.  They have a separate,

          3  secret, set of books.  Now, they denied that, but I

          4  have here the book, and we have handed to you "the

          5  book".  I'm being overly dramatic.  But the fact is,

          6  in this book it is called a Super Spread Sheet.

          7  There is a variety of documents.  And do I have it

          8  upside down?  No, I do not.  And each place you see

          9  these four markers, is the place where they had

         10  these transactions.  I will not take the time to

         11  itemize each of them. But what they would do is on

         12  one page they would have the public pronouncement,

         13  and then on the next page a line that needed

         14  interpretation.  Which said in effect, revenues from

         15  this source, zero for 2002, zero for 2003, and 2004,

         16  $139 million.  That was the prepayment.  In other

         17  words, they moved the money around.

         18                 Now, we could not interpret that

         19  right away from just reading those documents.  But

         20  we knew they have not provided this document or

         21  other documents pursuant to our 30 questions.

         22                 And so, finally in frustration, I

         23  ordered the Issuance of Subpoenas.  We subpoenaed

         24  the books and records or the MTA, we subpoenaed

         25  testimony.  They then produces 18 cartons of

                                                            28

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  material, in the middle of February, including this

          3  super spread sheet that had been secret.  We also

          4  compelled testimony, 32 hours of testimony, over

          5  eight sessions, and I think we have given you, and

          6  if we have not, we will, a transcript.  It is

          7  redactive. What we have given you is 913 pages.

          8  There are some more pages that are not in there,

          9  because they dealt with MTA's security and other

         10  confidential matters.  But 913 pages.  It was only

         11  as a result of asking questions in those pretentious

         12  subpoenad hearings that we got the answers to these

         13  transactions.  $512 million in 2002, hidden away in

         14  a number of transactions.

         15                 Additionally, we found additional in

         16  additional accounts of $55 million and $27.5 million

         17  in 2002 and 2003.  The result, again, the $24

         18  million surplus, of 2002 is really $537 million.

         19  And for 2003, this financial plan, said

         20  prospectively, that there would be a deficit of $236

         21  million.  But if the cash that was available, for

         22  2003 was used, there is actually a surplus of $83

         23  million.

         24                 The conclusion I drew was, that even

         25  though I believe, and I think that there is a
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          2  consensus that there is a need for a fare increase

          3  in 2004, my opinion, there was no need in 2003.  But

          4  what has been misconstrued by the MTA and the public

          5  discussion, is, "Oh, Hevesi said, that it might be

          6  prudent to have started the fare increase early".

          7  What I said, is "it may have been prudent, it may

          8  not have been prudent", but the public was not part

          9  of that debate, the Council, the elected officials,

         10  because they were not given the appropriate

         11  information.  I believe there is substantial amounts

         12  of money to allow a delay in this fare increase

         13  until 2004, and I am supporting the Straphangers

         14  Campaign, as Bill Thompson is.  We do submit an

         15  affidavit and will be available to go to court to be

         16  witnesses.

         17                 Now, what was the MTA's response?

         18  The first response is, we lied, we are political,

         19  this is an outrage.  Well, somebody lied, I will put

         20  that on a record.  Number two, we are not being

         21  political, it has nothing to do with politics, I did

         22  not know whether Chairman Kalikow was running for

         23  office or not. I did not know whether he was a

         24  Democrat or a Republican.  Our Chief Investigator, I

         25  am authorized to tell you that he is not a Democrat,

                                                            30

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  he was appointed by a Republican Comptroller, named

          3  Ned Reagan.  He may be a member of the Socialist

          4  Labor Party, for all I know, but he is a very good

          5  investigator.

          6                 The politics argument was nonsense.

          7  Then they said very dramatically, we have been

          8  audited.  We have been audited.  I want to put a

          9  rest to this nonsense.  They were audited by

         10  Deloitte and Touche and by Price Waterhouse.  I am

         11  not sure this is the era to claim that we were

         12  audited is a great positive, but the truth is they

         13  were audited.  But the financial plan was not

         14  audited. Their statements, their prior expenditures,

         15  their accounts were audited, and by the way, in the

         16  context of that audit, City Comptroller Bill

         17  Thompson found that the auditors missed something.

         18  The counting of $850 million, correct me on the

         19  number, $800 million plus, of capital money counted

         20  as operating expenses for a number of years.  And

         21  the minute his audit came out, the MTA went back to

         22  their private auditors and corrected that.

         23                 So, forgetting that, it is not the

         24  issue.  This is misdirection, because they did not

         25  audit the December Financial Plan, you do not audit
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          2  Financial Plans.  The statement of future budgeting,

          3  future plans, all changeable.

          4                 Number three.  They then said, "Well

          5  everybody knew about the debt restructure, even

          6  Governor Pataki went public, and said everybody knew

          7  about the debt restructuring that produced an extra

          8  surplus of $630 million.  That is all true, and

          9  irrelevant.  This is misdirection.  Misdirection I

         10  have said on another occasion, I will repeat, is a

         11  very appropriate skill, for a magician, it should

         12  have no place in the financial plan. Because no one

         13  was talking about debt restructuring.  Everybody did

         14  know, we asked in one of our 30 questions about debt

         15  restructuring, and there was an extra $630 million,

         16  but in talking about that restructuring, first they

         17  make the admission that they took that surplus and

         18  put it into 2004, which is sort of an admission.

         19  But it is also misdirected, because we are not

         20  talking about that restructuring.

         21                 The MTA's revenues comes from the

         22  debt restructuring, it comes from the mortgage

         23  recording tax, it comes from tolls on the bridges,

         24  it comes from subway fares, it comes from Government

         25  subsidies.  2002, they put all that money in their
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          2  budget and then they hid $512 million, whether it

          3  was, where ever it came from.  So, this is classic

          4  misdirection.

          5                 Bottom line is, this is an agency

          6  that has a culture of deceit, a culture of secrecy,

          7  and unwillingness to come clean with the public.

          8  The fact that they behaved in this way made the ten

          9  public hearings a sham, they were a sham, they had

         10  no meaning, because nobody could give appropriate

         11  presentations and testimony on the basis of false

         12  information.  And if they had a case to make, that

         13  it would have been prudent, and I am not saying it

         14  was, but if it had prudent to go early, tell the

         15  public.  The Mayor of the City of New York is doing

         16  that because the books of the City of New York are

         17  completely transparent and completely open and

         18  completely monitored, and at the end of the years,

         19  you guys are going to declare a small surplus, maybe

         20  a big surplus; am I right?  Maybe a billion dollars,

         21  coming clean with the public, by saying, but on the

         22  other hand, we have a three and a half billion

         23  dollar problem, and in the next fiscal year, here is

         24  what we want to do.  And it is an open, contentious

         25  but open debate, MTA did not allow any of that.
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          2                 Now let me make two other

          3  observations.  One, this is an agency that is in

          4  trouble, not just because Thompson and Hevesi made

          5  some revelations through our professional staff.

          6  This is an agency that is in trouble with its

          7  credibility over 2 Broadway. The building that whose

          8  project manager has now pleaded guilty to felony

          9  corruption, where there are a variety of issues

         10  unresolved.

         11                 I can tell you that it was suggested

         12  that we do an audit of the MTA's contracting, we are

         13  available to do that, but we were asked by the

         14  Manhattan District Attorney, not to interfere with

         15  whatever they are doing with the MTA.

         16                 Number two.  The former Inspector

         17  General, not the current one, quit his job, publicly

         18  claiming that the Board of the MTA stonewalled and

         19  refused to give information, or the Director, I am

         20  not sure, to him, in the context of internal

         21  corruption investigation he was making.  The current

         22  Inspector General is now in a public brawl with the

         23  Senior Security Officer, Lou Anemone, remember, was

         24  the Senior uniformed police officer, in New York,

         25  what was his title? Chief of Patrol, and about
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          2  corruption issues there.

          3                 This is an agency in huge trouble.

          4  So, this leads to my final observation.  We have to,

          5  we are going to participate in court, even though

          6  the statements made today and yesterday by Mr.

          7  Kalikow, have changed their tone.  They are not

          8  screaming lies or politics anymore.  They are

          9  saying, we made some mistakes, we did not tell the

         10  public clearly enough.  That is a remarkable

         11  understatement.  And they are going to have their

         12  own reform plan, which we welcome.

         13                 But the bottom line is this is an

         14  agency that needs reform.  And there are a number of

         15  ideas that we would like you to consider that we are

         16  offering, that the Chairman Richard Brodski of the

         17  Assembly Committee on Corporations, Authorities, and

         18  Commissions has recommended.  Let me just throw them

         19  at you.

         20                 An Operating Plan Review Board.  An

         21  outside board that monitors the operations of the

         22  agency, and Independent Budget Office and IBO for

         23  the MTA itself.  I think to monitor them on a daily

         24  basis is an excellent idea.

         25                 Their Inspector General should not be
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          2  appointed by the Governor who appoints the Board,

          3  but the recommendation that the Inspector General be

          4  appointed by the Attorney General of the State.

          5                 And, finally, that they have a Vendex

          6  System.  A Vendex System is this computer system,

          7  that New York City has, that I administered, and

          8  that Bill is now administering.  An excellent system

          9  for recording who the contractors are, vendors are,

         10  and do they have tax problems, or have they

         11  committed crimes, or are they poor performers, and

         12  so on.  That would be very valuable in this context.

         13                 I have recommended two things, and

         14  then I will stop.  And Bill has his own

         15  recommendations, which he has mentioned to you.  One

         16  is, it is not a recommendation, we are going to do

         17  it. I cannot stop the MTA from making policy, I

         18  cannot stop the MTA from raising the fares, under

         19  law.  But I am under the Constitution Supervisor of

         20  Accounts, that allows us to review the budgets and

         21  to audit.  We are going to issue a mandatory method

         22  of budgeting and reporting that is transparent, that

         23  is clear, that is monitored, that is timely, and

         24  impose it on the MTA.  And if they resist us, we

         25  will go to court and get a court order.
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          2                 Second, we are going to ask the

          3  legislature that before there is next fare increase,

          4  that their books and records be reviewed for

          5  transparency and for accuracy, by the State

          6  Comptroller.  Some combination of all these ideas,

          7  with the bottom line theme, they have to be

          8  monitored.  These independent agencies develop their

          9  own culture, because they do not report to anybody,

         10  they are not accountable to anybody, they do not run

         11  for office, there is nobody reviewing and monitoring

         12  them.  And that culture is enormously costly.

         13                 As my final observation is, and I

         14  think Speaker Miller addressed it.  The idea of

         15  unnecessarily, imposing a tax increase in the form

         16  of a substantial fare increase, when it is not

         17  necessary on citizens of this City and of

         18  surrounding counties, in the context of these awful

         19  times, and awful recession, where people are losing

         20  their jobs, they are all paying increased property

         21  taxes, maybe increased income taxes, increased

         22  tuition, increase sales tax, all of that is on the

         23  table, and to do this when it is not necessary, is

         24  unconscionable.  So, we join in the plea for them to

         25  overturn this decision, and to postpone this fare
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          2  increase until next year when it is necessary.

          3                 Thank you very much.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LUI:  Thank you, very

          5  much Comptroller Hevesi, and we have also considered

          6  some of the recommendations that both of you

          7  gentlemen have made already.  And in fact today, we

          8  will vote on four resolutions for the entire Council

          9  to consider at our next Stated Meeting.  And let me

         10  just briefly describe the four resolutions for the

         11  Committee members.

         12                 One, would be a resolution, calling

         13  upon the Governor of the State of New York to direct

         14  the Metropolitan Transportation Authority Board to

         15  rescind its approval of the transit fare increase.

         16                 Another resolution, which is in

         17  support of your recommendation, Comptroller Hevesi,

         18  a resolution urging the legislature and the Governor

         19  of the State of New York, to enact legislation,

         20  preventing the Metropolitan Transportation Authority

         21  from authorizing any future fare increase, until the

         22  Comptroller of the State of New York reviews its

         23  financial plan to determine whether a fare increase

         24  is reasonable or necessary.

         25                 Another resolution supporting the
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          2  enactment of New York State Senate Bill, S1008, that

          3  would establish a Metropolitan Transportation

          4  Authority Operating Oversight Committee, which,

          5  would be responsible for reviewing all financial

          6  records and operating budget proposals of the MTA.

          7                 And a fourth resolution, calling upon

          8  the New York State Governor, and the State

          9  Legislature to restructure the Board of Directors of

         10  the MTA, to include voting members representing the

         11  riding public and the workers of the Transit

         12  Authority.

         13                 Let me echo some of the things that

         14  you said already.  That now is clearly a time where

         15  a good faith action on the part of the MTA would be,

         16  to put off this fare increase, a suburban fare

         17  increase that went into effect today, and a City,

         18  bus and subway fare increase that is scheduled to go

         19  into effect this coming Sunday.

         20                 The Executive Director in January

         21  made a promise to this Committee in her testimony,

         22  that they were doing everything they can to make the

         23  agency more transparent, and to instill a sense of

         24  confidence in the public.

         25                 Chairman Kalikow's recent statements,
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          2  particularly his statements from yesterday's speech

          3  that he gave, also mentioned the need for the agency

          4  to be more transparent to allow the public to

          5  understand what is going on.

          6                 I submit to everyone here that these

          7  statements are hollow.  They have been hollow

          8  because there has been no good faith action on the

          9  part of the MTA to make us believe that they

         10  actually want the public what the heck is going on

         11  in that agency.

         12                 A good faith effort at this point

         13  would be to simply put off fare increase until they

         14  can really come clean with their situation and help

         15  the public understand what they are faced with.  I

         16  am not, I am still not convinced that they do need

         17  to have a fare increase even next year.  But that is

         18  not my responsibility to judge, to make the case for

         19  the public, that is the MTA's responsibility to

         20  explain fully to the millions of New Yorkers who

         21  rely on their services, what is going on, why they

         22  need this revenue to forestall additional service

         23  cuts.

         24                 I wish the MTA was here to give us

         25  their point of view, unfortunately they said that
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          2  they could not be here because they were in court,

          3  and my understanding is that they were finished with

          4  court at one o'clock, and unless the clock is wrong,

          5  it is ten after three.  So, I do not understand why

          6  the MTA is not here.

          7                 I have a number of questions, but I

          8  want to defer to my Committee Members because they

          9  have several questions.  Council Member Koppell,

         10  from the Bronx.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Good

         12  afternoon, gentlemen. It is good to see you, heard

         13  of you, and, especially my long time colleague and

         14  friend Alan, although not to take anything away from

         15  you, Bill.  But, I have known him much longer, and,

         16  he introduced me to my wife, so special, special,

         17  privilege.

         18                 But, Alan, you and I, were both in

         19  the legislature, and I know I played a role, in the

         20  restructuring of the MTA, which now goes back over

         21  20 years, 25 years, I think.  And, I am serious, now

         22  I am not being vicious, or whatever, I am like to

         23  hear you. The MTA is structured so it represents the

         24  elected officials, in the Metropolitan Region.  The

         25  members are appointed by the Governor, the Mayor,
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          2  and the County Executives of the Suburban Counties.

          3  One would think, that these people, who are all

          4  directly appointed by elective representatives,

          5  would have the same interest at heart. That, if you

          6  will, the people do, or at least the elective

          7  representatives of the people.

          8                 And, is seems almost, ridiculous, to

          9  think, that we need to create an Oversight

         10  Committee, to examine what this body is doing, as if

         11  it was some private profit making enterprise.  The

         12  members of the board do not earn more money, if the

         13  MTA makes money, or losses money, they do not have

         14  investments in the stock of the MTA.  If just

         15  completely baffles me, that this kind of statement

         16  that you made, that this kind of conclusion is

         17  reached, and, that these kind of recommendations are

         18  broad.  Given the fact, that these are appointed by

         19  the representatives of the people, in a fairly

         20  reasonable way, I think.

         21                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI:  Well, let me

         22  respond.  First, if I understand, they are all

         23  appointed by the Governor, at the recommendation of

         24  the County Executives and of the Mayor.

         25                 Secondly, one of, there are a lot of
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          2  good motives, for creating an independent authority,

          3  including the MTA.  Which, was to consolidate a

          4  variety of other transportation into one large

          5  system.  You save money, by economies of scale or

          6  administrative reasons for doing that.

          7                 But, one of the political reasons,

          8  was obviously, to transfer to an unelective board,

          9  that is unaccountable, the decisions that are

         10  unpopular, like raising fares.  And, over time, what

         11  happens, with an institution, is that, it develops

         12  its own way of doing things in its own culture,

         13  including, not conferring with the people who made

         14  the appointments, maybe, by design.  Because, some

         15  of those policies are painful.  The reality is, and

         16  the reason we make this recommendation, is that the

         17  facts are speaking for themselves.  If an Inspector

         18  General, for example, in a different arena, and know

         19  gets involved in conflicts over appropriate

         20  prosecution of corruption cases, and, now two

         21  Inspector Generals are involved in such disputes,

         22  does it not argue that they believe the IBG --- be

         23  independent of the leadership of the agency, or to

         24  some degree, independent of the agency, of over whom

         25  he or she, is function.
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          2                 So, but, the reality is, I think what

          3  happened here is, that in order to respond to the

          4  once removed appointing officers, there was decision

          5  made, no fare increase in an election year, no

          6  matter whatever we have to do, we are going to have

          7  to do that, and, nobody can tell us not to do that.

          8  Whether we have been instructed to or not, that is

          9  our view of the world.

         10                 And number two, once you have crossed

         11  the line, to maneuvering books and money, it becomes

         12  easy.  And, so the decision, I think, was made very

         13  early.  We are going to have a fare increase, let us

         14  do it right after election, the process means March

         15  the 6th, that is the date, and we are going to do

         16  it, does not matter what the facts are, does not

         17  matter what the revenues are, and if we have to move

         18  things around, we are going to move things around.

         19  And, no one tells them otherwise.

         20                 Therefore, you have to say,

         21  Institutionally, you are going to have to revise the

         22  oversight.  There has got to be some independent

         23  oversight, as there is over you, as a member of a

         24  Council, you have the ultimate oversight, the

         25  voters, that put you in the office.  If you behave
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          2  like this, they will throw you out of office.  If

          3  you behave like this, they throw you out of office.

          4                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON, JR.:

          5  Councilman, in the end, the one thing that I can

          6  say, is that, we went out of our way, at least at

          7  our press conference when we announced everything,

          8  last week.  To say that we also believed that, and,

          9  I said so today, that at a certain point, we did not

         10  believe that the MTA Board, had been given accurate

         11  information, also.

         12                 And, in attempted, to say that this

         13  was an opportunity for them, to demand, and, be able

         14  to take a look at information.  The thing that is

         15  still, I must admit, I am still a bit confused by,

         16  is, it appears that they have not done that.  So, in

         17  the end, note, that the design, one would think that

         18  the designing of an MTA Board made sense.  In actual

         19  practice right now, you know, I agree with

         20  Comptroller Hevesi, that in fact, there really

         21  appears to be a total lack of account ability on the

         22  part of that entire institution.  So, at one point,

         23  the question is, and, we both have been asked, well,

         24  who is responsible? I do not think you can point to

         25  one individual.  At a certain point, though, the
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          2  Board itself, that needs to hold the staff

          3  accountable, or, someone has to be held accountable,

          4  and, right now, no one is.

          5                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI:  Do not let me

          6  belabored this, but, Bill makes a point, I neglected

          7  to make.  And, he is right on, but, he is saying it

          8  gently and softly.  We have in the 913 page

          9  transcript, exchanges between our investigators and

         10  the Chief Budget, Mr. Caplan, did you tell the Board

         11  about this transaction?  Did you tell the Executive

         12  Director?  Well, I think I did, I am not sure I did,

         13  I thought I did, oh, yeah, maybe it was at the

         14  hearing that we went to, the hearing transcripts,

         15  and, even the tapes.  And, the answer was no.

         16                 I think that it is plausible, and, I

         17  do not know this for a fact, but, I have said this,

         18  I think it is plausible, that $600 million, may have

         19  been hidden from the members of the board, and, may

         20  have been hidden from the division of the budget,

         21  and the Governor.  I do not know if the Governor

         22  knew about this money, or, whether they were pretty

         23  upset, as they were being asked for increased

         24  subsidies, there was this money hidden away.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LUI:  Thank you.  We have
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          2  been joined, since the beginning of this hearing,

          3  Council Member David Weprin, from Queens, who is the

          4  Chairman of the Finance Committee, of the City

          5  Council.  Welcome.

          6                 We, let me ask, Council Member Lanza,

          7  he has questions.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA:  Thank you,

          9  Chairman Lui, and, thank you for the great

         10  leadership, that you have brought to this issue,

         11  and, continue to bring.  Thank you gentlemen, thank

         12  you for being here this afternoon.

         13                 I share, the position, I believe, of

         14  this Chair and this entire Committee, and, have

         15  publicly stated my belief, that tax payers and

         16  riders of this system, the mass transit system,

         17  deserve to have the same rights as a share holder in

         18  a publicly traded company.  And, that is to have

         19  full and fair financial disclosure, and, we have,

         20  together on this Committee, and, publicly each one

         21  of us, has called upon the MTA to make that

         22  disclosure.  Because, we believe that it is

         23  important for the public to have the information, I

         24  think it behooves both the MTA and the riding

         25  public, to have that information, to be in a
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          2  position, to determine, if you are a stake holder,

          3  or in this case, a Straphanger, in an entity, you

          4  ought to know the facts.

          5                 So, I envy, the access you have had

          6  to the information that we have sought, by virtue of

          7  your subpoena power. And, my question is today, and,

          8  I think you have partially answered it today.  Is,

          9  after having that access, and thoroughly examining

         10  the information, and, coming to some findings, have

         11  you determined, that which, I hope you have, which

         12  is to say, that a fare hike is not necessary?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LUI:  My opinion is, that

         14  a fare hike is not necessary in 2003, that there is

         15  sufficient revenues and cash to end the year in a

         16  surplus, without a fare increase.  I have to put on

         17  the record, that in 2004, I do not make the same

         18  statement, but, the major variable is a hugh

         19  increase in debt service, from $800 million in 2003,

         20  to a billion three, in 2004, to a billion seven, in

         21  2005.  The cause of that, as there is in every

         22  decade, a substantial Capital Plan, that extends for

         23  many years.

         24                 In the 1980's, the Capital Plan,

         25  including a billion dollar subsidy from the State of
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          2  New York.  In the 1990's, the Capital Plan included,

          3  a subsidy of over a billion dollars from the State

          4  of New York.  In the decade starting with the year

          5  2000, through 2004, Capital Plan, the contribution

          6  of the State of New York to the Capital Plan, was

          7  zero.  So, to make up for that, the MTA, has gone

          8  into substantial debt, and, that debt increase by

          9  its self will warrant, with all the other variables,

         10  in my opinion, a fare increase, but, not until 2004.

         11

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA:  Now, I suppose

         13  the big $2 question, then, is, what, given the

         14  timing of it, if it is your opinion, based on all

         15  that you know, and the results of your

         16  investigation, if, a fare increase were delayed, or

         17  put off until 2004, would it be the same sort of

         18  increase that we are looking at today?

         19                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI:  I believe, so.

         20  I think that when you have a 33 percent increase in

         21  a fare, there is a cushion. And, I think that there

         22  was an anticipation, that the full revenues will be

         23  higher than you actually need, and, you do not put a

         24  fare, if you can inflict the pain, you might as well

         25  do it in a way that anticipates, unanticipated, that
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          2  counts there might be unanticipated costs, and there

          3  is a cushion in there.

          4                 There is another factor, that, I keep

          5  talking for you.

          6                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON:  You can do

          7  that this time.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA:  Bill

          9  Thompson's audit, makes a very essential point, that

         10  part of their calculation includes a ridership

         11  estimate that is way below the norm.  And, if they

         12  are wrong, then there will be higher revenues.  It

         13  also fails to include for 2003, they claim with the

         14  fare of $60 million surplus, for 2003, they do not

         15  count productivity benefits from the TWU, they count

         16  expenses, for the TWU contract, but, not the

         17  productivity savings, which, Mr. Kalikow, publicly

         18  said, would be $60 million.

         19                 And, there is another fund we found

         20  of $27 million. So, that $60 million with the fare,

         21  if you count the productivity and that other $27

         22  million, it is really about $140 million.  So, there

         23  is some cushion in there.

         24                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI:  Councilmen, even

         25  though, the one thing that, while, I think we both
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          2  believe that the fare increase was not necessary

          3  this year.  The MTA's attempts, and, it comes back

          4  to the central issue, of, the MTA saying, well,

          5  they were trying to do this, they thought there

          6  might end up being a need, if they waited for a

          7  larger fare increase down the road. Whether that is,

          8  or is not true, the central issue here, still is a

          9  question of, just accountability, and, making and

         10  being honest and open about their finances.  And, as

         11  the City has moved forward, no, we will end this

         12  year with a surplus of somewhere between $850

         13  million to a billion dollars, plan.  Because, that

         14  works against cuts or increases, or tax increases

         15  would have to incur, next year, that is good

         16  budgeting, that is intelligent open budgeting,

         17  everyone is aware of that.  The MTA has failed to do

         18  that.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA:  I agree with

         20  you, and, I agree with you completely, it is just

         21  that, people that I represent, like myself, are

         22  fairly simple, and the bottom line for them, they

         23  just want to know whether or not, they have to pay

         24  and how much.

         25                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI:  Was it needed
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          2  this year?  No.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA:  And, that is

          4  why I asked the question.  And, my last question is,

          5  whether or not, either one of you gentlemen, have

          6  reported the results of your findings to the DA's

          7  office, or any prosecutorial authority?

          8                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI:  I think, that

          9  our comments or reviews, have been very public.  If

         10  there is any prosecutor or any investigatory body,

         11  that wants it, they can reach out to us.  So far, we

         12  have not been reached out to by anyone.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA:  Well, I asked

         14  the question, as New Yorkers, we all understand that

         15  when you accuse someone of having two sets of books,

         16  and as it has been said today, that there is a

         17  cultural of deceit, and someone has lied, that as

         18  New Yorkers, we understand that there is an

         19  implication of criminal wrong doing. And, so it

         20  seemed to me, if that is the case, and, that is what

         21  in fact you found, that should be turned over to the

         22  proper authorities, and in this case, to the

         23  Manhattan District Attorney's Office.

         24                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI:  I do not think

         25  either of us has have made allegations of
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          2  illegality.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA:  Two sets of

          4  books, - -

          5                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI:  Of doing things

          6  that are wrong, breaking trust with the public of

          7  misleading, yes, of something illegal, by statue,

          8  the answer is no.

          9                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON, JR.: Yeah, we

         10  have been very, very clear, and including in our

         11  original presentation, we have found no evidence, of

         12  criminality.  Criminality, requires a statue that

         13  prescribed the behavior.  If this behavior had done

         14  by officials of a major corporation, to the

         15  Security's Act, then that would have been a

         16  different story.  There is to our knowledge, no such

         17  statue, and so, we have not formerly presented any

         18  documents or any allocation, to a prosecutor.  But,

         19  we have been very public, and my information, is

         20  that there are prosecutors that are reviewing this.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LUI:  Thank you.  We do

         22  have a number of other questions, but, before we

         23  proceed to those other questions, I would like to

         24  ask the indulgent of the Members of the Committee,

         25  to allow me to call for a vote of the four
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          2  resolutions that I have described earlier, and that

          3  I would like to couple, these four resolutions into

          4  one vote.  And, for the record, state what these

          5  resolutions are.

          6                 Resolution 073- 2003, calling upon

          7  the New York State Governor, George Pataki, and the

          8  New York State Legislature, to restructure the Board

          9  of Directors of the MTA, the Metropolitan

         10  Transportation Authority, to include voting members

         11  representing the riding public and labor.

         12                 Resolution 0750- 2003, supporting the

         13  enactment of the New York State Senate Bill S- 1008,

         14  that would establish a Metropolitan Transportation

         15  Authority Operating Oversight Committee, which would

         16  be responsible for reviewing all financial records,

         17  and operating budget proposals, of the Metropolitan

         18  Transportation Authority.

         19                 Resolution 0833- 2003, urging the

         20  Legislature and the Governor of the State of New

         21  York, to enact legislation, preventing the

         22  Metropolitan Transportation Authority, from

         23  authorizing any future fare increase until the

         24  Comptroller of the State of New York reviews its

         25  financial plan to determine whether a fare increase
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          2  is reasonable or necessary.

          3                 And, finally, Resolution 0834- 2003,

          4  calling upon the Governor of the State of New York,

          5  to direct the Metropolitan Transportation Authority

          6  to rescind its recent approval of the transit fare

          7  increase.

          8                 Are there any questions from Council

          9  members on the resolutions?

         10                 And we have also been joined by

         11  Council Member Eva Moskowitz, of Manhattan, and her

         12  protegee.  Let me, if there are no questions, will

         13  the clerk please call the roll for this coupled vote

         14  of four resolutions.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Lui.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LUI: Yes

         17                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Moskowitz.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Yes

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Addabbo.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Yes

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Reyna.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Yes

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Koppell.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Yes

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Martinez.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Permission

          3  to explain my vote, Mr. Chair?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LUI:  So granted.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Thank you.

          6  I want to commend you on this resolution being put

          7  forward today, at the Council.  I think it calls at

          8  the right time, when the citizens of New York have

          9  felt cheated, by the MTA, in which we need to call

         10  for real reform in this body that will be

         11  accountable to the citizens of New York, and New

         12  York City.  New York City, especially, being the

         13  City, that provides the highest usage of the

         14  Metropolitan Authority.  So, I want to commend you

         15  on that, and, I will probably will vote aye, and, I

         16  also want to commend both of our Comptrollers, for

         17  their excellent job.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LUI:  Thank you.  Will

         19  the clerk continue.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Sears.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Mr. Chairman,

         22  before I vote, if I may ask that my name be included

         23  on Reso. 738, 33, and 34?  I believe that I am on

         24  750 already.  And, I vote aye on all four.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LUI:  So ordered, and

                                                            56

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  thank you.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Lanza.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA:  Aye on all.

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK:  By a vote of 8 in the

          6  affirmative, zero in the negative, and no

          7  abstentions, the items are adopted. Council Members

          8  please sign the Committee reports.  Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LUI: Thank you, for the

         10  vote, and, let me ask one, before I ask my question.

         11    We have also been joined by Phillip Scandora

         12  (phonetic), who is leading a delegation of 32

         13  students, from Stuyvesant High School, certainly

         14  want to welcome the students, of this high school,

         15  which is a distinguished high school, and, it pains

         16  me to say that, given that I am an alumni of a

         17  school in the Bronx, but, you guys are very, very

         18  welcome.

         19                 The, I did have one question to ask

         20  the Comptrollers.  Which is, I have for a long time

         21  wondered, why is it, and this is to build on

         22  something that Comptroller Hevesi had eluted to

         23  before, why is it, that the MTA board, would

         24  schedule a special session, to vote on this fare

         25  increase?  And, to do it, just to a few weeks before
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          2  their updated financial statements came out, for the

          3  year 2002?  Is that just a big coincidence, is

          4  there, do you think that there might be any design

          5  to this?

          6                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI:  I do not know if

          7  it was design or just arrogance.  I mean, I think,

          8  that, I was public also in saying to wait until

          9  after the financial reviews and audits, that were

         10  being done, before they move forward on a fare hike.

         11    I thought that was the smart and prudent thing to

         12  do.  They choose not to.  At the end, is it by

         13  design or is it simply a matter of arrogance, and, a

         14  time table that they set up ahead of time.  That

         15  allowed them, or that they decided to move forward

         16  with.  I think it was that, I think it was the

         17  arrogance, and a time table they had laid out,

         18  because, they wanted to have a fare hike in place by

         19  a certain time.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LUI:  I think that given

         21  the professional staffs that both your offices have

         22  working on this important review, and the fact that

         23  your teams were undertaking independent reviews,

         24  and, that there was no coordination what so ever,

         25  and, that you both came to roughly the same
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          2  conclusions, that there is clearly a great deal of

          3  truth in the statements of there not being any need

          4  to increase fares this year, that they had plenty of

          5  financial strength to carry on the operations.  I

          6  have to believe, that the MTA, somehow know that

          7  would also be the truth, that would come out.  And,

          8  it must be much, much more difficult, for the MTA

          9  Board to render a decision to increase fares in the

         10  aftermath, of the issuance of your reports.

         11                      Am I crazy for in thinking that

         12  the MTA must of known, that these conclusions would

         13  come out, and, that if they waited till after the

         14  reviews, of the Comptrollers, that it would be much,

         15  much more difficult to take a vote that they did

         16  prematurely on March 6th?

         17                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI:  It could have

         18  been, but, at the same point, I think that right

         19  now, the fact that we have come out

         20  with what we have found.  Even, after the fact,

         21  puts, the MTA in almost a worst position, of having

         22  to stand there and justify it, and, basically ignore

         23  the public out cry now.  I think it is almost,

         24  tougher, for them to continue to move down the road.

         25    No, clearly, if the information would have been
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          2  out there before, it creates a major problem for the

          3  MTA.

          4                 So, at a certain point, motivation,

          5  it is hard to make the determination why and what is

          6  motivated people, and been careful.  Not to, in

          7  fact, look at what the motives were.  At a certain

          8  point, no, you are not wrong, the facts tend to lead

          9  you to certain conclusions.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LUI:  Thank you, we have

         11  questions from Council Member Sears.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Thank you, Mr.

         13  Chair, and, thank you, it is good to really see both

         14  of you again.  I know

         15  that so much of this is on the fare increase and all

         16  the things that have happened.  It seems that for

         17  such a long time we have really been swimming in the

         18  transparency of the MTA, which is really, to me, a

         19  sea mud.

         20                 Every time they have come here, it

         21  has gotten cloudier, and cloudier, and cloudier.

         22  And, it seems that there is an absolute agreement,

         23  and, certainly thanks to the two of you, that

         24  somehow, they have boxed themselves into a corner,

         25  and they are going to have to come out with some
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          2  pretty good stuff, in order for us to establish

          3  their credibility again.

          4                 I have just a few questions, and they

          5  are kind of brief.  It has to do with the Annual

          6  Debt Service Cost, that was stated in your report,

          7  Alan Hevesi.  That it would be $220 million less,

          8  but, and, over the years, it would get higher.  And,

          9  my question is, during such a time did they actually

         10  have to pay down their debt service as they did in

         11  this year, that they would be increasing the fare?

         12  Did they have to pay that debt service in 2002?

         13                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI:  What they did,

         14  is took, they did a debt restructuring, which was

         15  very appropriate.  All governments are doing debt

         16  restructuring, because, the interest rates are so

         17  low, that you take existing data at a higher rate,

         18  pay it off, and then refinance the debt.  And, they

         19  made a lot of money doing that.  In fact, they made

         20  about a billion eight, doing it. $600 million more

         21  than they anticipated.

         22                 Did they have to take that $600

         23  million and use it for out year payments?  The

         24  answer is no.  Is that an appropriate thing to do?

         25  Subject to debate.  But, had they not done that,
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          2  that money would be available for this years

          3  operating expenses.  They want to make a decision to

          4  start paying a fare, early, I disagree with that

          5  decision, but, that is a fair position to take, if

          6  you share it with the public.  The issue here was

          7  disclosure, and, their failure to do it, they just

          8  took that money, other money, hid it, pay.  They did

          9  not pay off debt.  They earmarked it for the

         10  prepayment of debt, when 2004 comes along.  It does

         11  not obligate them to do it.  They could have pulled

         12  the money back and used it for other things.  So,

         13  for me, the interpretation was, they were just

         14  hiding that money.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  I would be

         16  inclined to agree with that.  Now, a question.  When

         17  they pay down Debt Service, is their Debt Service,

         18  accumulated in a sum total, rather then paying a

         19  debt service down, by project by project?

         20                 SPEAKER MILLER:  Oh, I think it is a

         21  very- -

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  How do they do

         23  that?

         24                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI:  It is, it would

         25  never be paid down project, by project.  It would be
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          2  paid down in a, you have of debt service, or what

          3  you borrowed the money for, you have identified the

          4  projects, but, it is never paid down on a project by

          5  project basis, it is a lump amount.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  So, it is a

          7  lump, and then they basically have to do that.

          8  And, you know with the Public Authority's Law, it

          9  says that they are suppose to have those balance

         10  sheets that you talked about.  What on earth, is

         11  either in the air or environment, or the ambiguities

         12  in the law, that would allow them to actual violate

         13  the existing law that they are mandated to obey?  I

         14  do not understand that. They are a product of the

         15  Governor, and maybe we are addressing our stuff, to

         16  the, maybe for us here, maybe we need to really, ask

         17  the Governor to come and speak, before the Council.

         18  Because, it seems to me, I mean- -

         19                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: If you can get

         20  him to do that, that is something that nobody else

         21  has been able to do.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Well, I think

         23  we have to try, because, they have come along

         24  enough.  It seems to me, - -

         25                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI:  If he says, yes,
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          2  invite us, let us know.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: - -  oh,

          4  absolutely, absolutely.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LUI:  Council member, we,

          6  a point of information, we did invite George Pataki,

          7  there was no response.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Oh, alright,

          9  well, we have to keep trying, because, he is

         10  responsible for who gets on that board, he is

         11  responsible for heads and runs the MTA, and, so they

         12  are in absolute violation, of the head of this

         13  State, that really in truly, they are obligated at

         14  least for integrity, to abide by the law.  I do not

         15  understand, how they get away with it, I really do

         16  not.

         17                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI:  Bill has summed

         18  up, the word is arrogance.  Let me come back to

         19  something, and, not to take more time, but, make the

         20  records clear.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  That is all

         22  right, we have the time.

         23                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI:  Section 1269- D,

         24  of the Public Authorities Law, requires the MTA to

         25  do a five- year plan every year.  Which, means take,
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          2  add another year, and, pronounce publicly, you

          3  estimate of costs for all of those five years, your

          4  expenses, your costs, your revenues, and so on.

          5  They stopped doing it.  They stopped doing it.  We

          6  asked them why did you stop doing it?  And, they

          7  said it conflicts with Section 1267- D, and

          8  therefore we did not do it.  Well, we looked at

          9  1267- D, and it provides a one shot financial plan

         10  back i the '90's.  It had nothing, no conflict, it

         11  was a lie.

         12                 As a result of our asking, they did a

         13  five- year financial plan.  As a result of our

         14  report, at our subpoenas, but, the financial plan

         15  they produced, is in a completely different format

         16  from the prior financial plan.  You cannot compare

         17  one from the other.  And, it begs the ultimate

         18  question, will you need another fare increase in

         19  2005 or 2006?  It is arrogance.  It is, we are going

         20  to do it our way, and, if you sort of catch us on

         21  it,

         22  we will find another way, what is the right word,

         23  snake our way out of that.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  I have one

         25  last question, and it is short.  They have stated
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          2  that it would cost them, over $50 million to come in

          3  with a uniformed accounting system.  I know that

          4  they get grants, and the get from the Federal

          5  Government of the State, and, each of those entities

          6  requires their accounting to be that way.   But,

          7  throughout that agency, their must be 25,000

          8  languages that are spoken in accounting, because,

          9  they are not the same, they are not consistent, they

         10  are not uniform of how they reveal information.

         11  Would it cost that much, I mean, you know, from a

         12  professional opinion?

         13                 SPEAKER MILLER:  Well, I just asked

         14  the expert how much it would cost, but, we do not

         15  really know, but, $50 million is absurd.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Thank you,

         17  that is what I thought.

         18                 SPEAKER MILLER:  But, it costs

         19  nothing to have a Uniform Financial Plan, for each

         20  of the agencies.  That costs nothing.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Well; it

         22  apparently is too expensive for the MTA.

         23                 SPEAKER MILLER:  Well, who said $50

         24  million, I would love that.  You have a citation?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  They have come
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          2  through and they have testified here, before this

          3  Committee, and, it is absurd, because, those- -

          4                 SPEAKER MILLER:  That is as about as

          5  credible as some of the other things they have said.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Okay, right.

          7  Thank you very much, and you really have been,

          8  terrific with this whole thing. Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LUI:  Thank you Council

         10  Member Sears, and, we have comments and questions

         11  from Council Member Weprin.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN:  Thank you,

         13  Mr. Chair.  I want to praise both Comptrollers for

         14  their leadership, not only on this issue, but, on so

         15  many issues that are so important to the residents

         16  of the City of New York.

         17                 We, as you know, in the Council, took

         18  an early position, earlier this year that there was

         19  no need to rush into even a consideration of a fare

         20  increase, through Chairman Liu's leadership, the

         21  Speaker's leadership.   We, took a very strong and

         22  early position, that we should certainly wait until

         23  the updated financial were available before we could

         24  even any options, and, certainly wait till your

         25  respected audit, and I think most of us testified at
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          2  a number of the hearings, and, at the hearing

          3  itself, on March 6th, at the MTA headquarters, and,

          4  urged the board, to delay their vote, because, there

          5  was no immediate need.

          6                 And, apparently, based on your

          7  testimony, it is aft to say, that there was no

          8  immediate need to act, certainly in March, I assume

          9  that is correct?  And, we are still going to make

         10  the argument, that the, you know, that the fare

         11  should be rolled back, and it certainly was

         12  premature.

         13                 But, let me put on a different hat,

         14  because you both testified that a fare increase was

         15  not necessary in '04, 03 I guess, But could be

         16  available, I will make it quick, I understand. But,

         17  certainly, but potentially, should be reviewed next

         18  year, but, it certainly was not urgent this year.

         19                 As you all know, the City is in a

         20  budget crisis, we are looking at cutting

         21  potentially, billions of dollars in services, based

         22  on the Mayor's contingency plane, but we are hoping

         23  that we will get $1.4 billion form Albany, but we do

         24  not know want we do not know what form that is going

         25  to be.  Clearly, some of the authority, maybe to
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          2  raise additional taxes, which may not be acceptable

          3  to residents, sales tax, in particular, was one, on

          4  top of a State potential State Sales Tax, so, we are

          5  a little concerned about what we would get.  One of

          6  the good things that is coming out of it, it looks

          7  like the State is willing to assume the MAC Bond

          8  Debt, for the next five years, which is a

          9  significant reduction.

         10                 I know Mayor Bloomberg, earlier this

         11  year, asked the MTA, to consider reducing the City's

         12  subsidy to the MTA, and, the City subsidizes the

         13  MTA, to the tune of about $500 million a year,

         14  between the expense side and the capital side.  Do

         15  you think if this fare is not rolled back, in light

         16  of, you know, the obviously, surplus that they will

         17  be having, that it might be prudent to, consider New

         18  York City, significantly reducing that subsidy?

         19                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON, JR.: I think,

         20  that once you, and it has happened before, but I

         21  think once you reduce your subsidy, that what you

         22  start to do, is to place a burden, maybe not right

         23  away, but, an additional burden on the people that

         24  use the service.  So, for a year you might be able

         25  to do something like that, but, then again, you know
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          2  that once you make that reduction, you tend not to

          3  put that money back in again.  And, then, you wind

          4  up creating additional budget gaps for that entity.

          5  So, I would be careful about that.

          6                 I know you can look at the

          7  possibility, but then again, what happens a second,

          8  and third, and fourth year down the road if you do

          9  not replace the subsidy, it results in a higher

         10  increase, or higher cost, of a fare increase.  So, I

         11  would be careful about that Councilman.

         12                 I understand the idea, and during

         13  these tough financial times, we look for every

         14  dollar that we may be able to use to stave off other

         15  things.  But, once the money is removed, I think it

         16  creates a problem in going back the next year

         17  looking for that money, and if you do not get it,

         18  the burden does fall on the riders.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LUI: Thank you, and the

         20  Comptrollers are short on time, we have two more

         21  council members with questions, I would ask,

         22  foregivingly, I would ask them to make their

         23  comments and questions brief, Council Member

         24  Addabbo.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Thank you
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          2  Mr. Chair, and to both Comptrollers, thank you very

          3  much for your time and testimony, and efforts.  And,

          4  I do share Chairman Lui's frustration and distaste

          5  for the MTA hike, and, when I was at the MTA

          6  testifying on March 6th, not only did I say that

          7  they should wait for the fare hike until the audit,

          8  but, that our closing the token booths, it was just

          9  kicking the ridership, while they were down.  And, I

         10  do not think that they should have done both at that

         11  time.

         12                 Comptroller Hevesi, at the time you

         13  had mentioned that in 2002, you saw

         14  misrepresentations in the financial disclosures of

         15  the MTA.  My question to both, is, do you have a

         16  determination on how long the MTA, has been

         17  misrepresenting, their financial disclosures to the

         18  public?  How long has this fuzzy math been going on?

         19                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI:  We do not have

         20  specific knowledge.  The impression is, you know,

         21  that this is a pattern of behavior.  Part of the

         22  arrogance we are talking about.  But, I am

         23  instructed by Comptroller Thompson's findings, that

         24  when it came to recording capital liabilities, as

         25  operating expenses, and that has been going on for a
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          2  number of years.  That was instructed to me. So, it

          3  would be a surprise if this was the novel situation.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  I mean, it

          5  became clear when we highlighted it, that they have

          6  been doing that for a number of years.  And, when

          7  pointed out that is not according to regular

          8  accounting procedures, and the fact, or for 2002, as

          9  they had their preliminary audit being done, they

         10  made the changes then.  Even after their auditors

         11  had signed off on the preliminary, they went back

         12  and made the changes.  So, it is clear that it has

         13  been going on for awhile.

         14                 Unconscionable.  Thank you very much

         15  gentlemen.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LUI:  Thank you, and,

         17  final question from Council Member Michael Nelson,

         18  who is also the author of Resolution 834, calling

         19  upon the Governor, to direct the MTA to rescind its

         20  approval of the transit fare increase.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Thank you,

         22  Mr. Chair.  It is really great to see both the

         23  Comptrollers here today, and, we thank you for what

         24  you are doing for the good of our citizenry, and, he

         25  just said something that I was going to say.  Helen
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          2  Sears comments were born of frustration, as you

          3  know.  The lack of perhaps, power that we have here,

          4  overall and discuss, we do not want to bring out the

          5  wet fish, if we have to get something going with

          6  this Governor.

          7  Somebody has got to.

          8                 Just, maybe an address while I was

          9  co- chairing a meeting, next door.  Anything said

         10  about the restructuring of the MTA, perhaps, by law,

         11  perhaps to forestall this in the future?

         12                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI:  We never got, we

         13  got into some substantial reforms that takes the

         14  existing structure, and subjects it to much greater

         15  monitoring and review and oversight.  We did get

         16  into a real restructuring.  I mean, I think this

         17  structure works if you have the layers of oversight

         18  that have been recommended.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: You have to

         20  have those layers at least, or perhaps, the fear of

         21  the possibility, of something by law by our State

         22  brothers and sisters, if have to be.

         23                 Thank you, thank you very much.

         24  Thank you Mr. Chair.

         25                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON, JR.:  And, just
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          2  in closing Mr. Chairman, the one thing that I would

          3  like to say is, in doing this, and this staff and I

          4  know Alan can speak for himself,

          5  But, the staff of the New York City Comptroller's

          6  Office, Deputy Comptroller for Audit, on that side,

          7  Greg Brooks, and, the people that work in my audit

          8  bureau, really, in a very condensed period of time,

          9  in a few months, did a great job, and a great

         10  service for the people of this City.  And, I just

         11  like to thank them, for the work they did, also, it

         12  is a very, very, very,

         13  excellent job, job well done. I have told them

         14  personally, but, I just like to say so publicly,

         15  today.

         16                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI:  I will join and

         17  thanking my staff as well, for extraordinary,

         18  professional, and, expert, staff, and I am resisting

         19  the temptation of publicly, that Bill's staff, is

         20  also excellent, because I am the one that recruited

         21  most of them.  So, I will not say that.  Even though

         22  there are a lot of them who are there from Jake

         23  Golden's - -

         24                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON,JR.:  But, know,

         25  it is two very good staffs.  Does Carl McCall get

                                                            74

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  credit for this?

          3                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI:  Yes, he does.

          4  Actually, in the case of our Chief Investigator, it

          5  is Ned Reagan, who recruited him, but, that is more

          6  information then anybody needs Bill.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LUI:  Thank you, very

          8  much Comptrollers Hevesi and Thompson, for being

          9  with us this afternoon, and, for sharing with us

         10  your insights.  Thank you.

         11                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI:  Thank you.

         12                 COMPTROLLER THOMPSON, JR.:  Thank

         13  you, sir.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LUi:  Given that the MTA

         15  does not have a representative here, this afternoon,

         16  which, is incredibly disappointing to the members of

         17  this Committee, they did send a brief written

         18  statement, that I will ask our legislative council

         19  to the Transportation Committee, Mitch Schwartz, to

         20  read, for the record.  Mitchell Schwartz is simply

         21  reading this statement for the record, and, does not

         22  in any way, represent the Metropolitan

         23  Transportation Authority.  Mitch.

         24                 MR. SCHWARTZ:  Thank you.  This

         25  statement was prepared by Gary Kaplan, the Director
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          2  of Budgets and Financial Management for the

          3  Metropolitan Transportation Authority, my name is

          4  Mitchell Schwartz, I am council to this Committee,

          5  and, I will read this statement word for word.

          6                 Chairman Lui and the Members of the

          7  Committee, I regret that I am unable to appear

          8  before the Transportation Committee today, as I had

          9  originally planned.  My inability to appear, is as a

         10  result of the legal action brought yesterday, and,

         11  the need for the MTA to prepare a response.

         12                 I do, however, appreciate your

         13  understanding in this unusual circumstance, and, I

         14  appreciate the opportunity to submit this statement

         15  in lieu of my appearance.

         16                 I would first like to address the

         17  State Comptrollers report, entitled, Examination of

         18  the Finances of the Metropolitan Transportation

         19  Authority, The Report.

         20                 While, The Report, was issued prior

         21  to an opportunity to comment, the MTA issued a

         22  detailed response to the Comptrollers final report

         23  earlier this week, which I am including with these

         24  remarks.  As we indicated in that response, the MTA

         25  believes that the report unfortunately, fell short

                                                            76

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  of a balanced and informed inquiry into the current

          3  financial condition of the MTA, and, the process by

          4  which budgetary decisions leading up to the fare and

          5  toll increase were made.

          6                 It is very important to note, that

          7  the report acknowledged that the action taken by the

          8  MTA Board, was ultimately a sound business decision,

          9  this truth was lost in the series of

         10  mischaracterizations, that unfairly sensationalized

         11  some of the reports conclusions.  Despite its

         12  criticisms of the MTA budgetary process, which,

         13  admittedly, is complex, the report acknowledges that

         14  the increases adopted by the MTA board in March were

         15  necessary.

         16                 In fact, the Comptroller, actually

         17  recognizes that it would have been imprudent, for

         18  the MTA to have utilized all available resources, to

         19  for stall the fare and toll increases, until 2004.

         20                 While the response prepared by the

         21  MTA addresses the Comptroller's report, on a point

         22  by point bases, there are several major points that

         23  I would make in response to that report, and the

         24  subsequent developments resulting there from.

         25                 First, and foremost, I must make it
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          2  absolute clear, that the MTA does not have two sets

          3  of books.  We all know what that phrase implies, and

          4  nothing can be further from the truth. Nor, does the

          5  MTA have two different financial plans.  What the

          6  Comptroller's report is referring to, is a summary

          7  plan, approved by the MTA board, and the detailed

          8  plan, the work paper, that lies behind the summary

          9  plan.

         10                 These plans add up to the same

         11  totals.  Back up documents, with varying levels of

         12  detail and budgeting, in virtually every level of

         13  government.  The 2002 to the 2004 gap, the MTA faced

         14  before internal actions, including the debt

         15  restructuring, was $2.8 billion dollars.  While 1.8

         16  billion in internal administrative reductions, and,

         17  cost saving measures were identified to reduce this

         18  deficit.  The remaining $1 billion gap, needed to be

         19  closed through revenue increases.  This was true in

         20  November of 2002, when the problem was brought to

         21  the publics attention, and, it was true in March of

         22  2003, when the gap was closed.

         23                 The MTA did not have a surplus in

         24  2002 that was $512 million greater than it reported.

         25    What the Comptroller calls a surplus, comprised
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          2  the mechanism by which the MTA spread the benefits

          3  of certain one shots, essentially the savings from

          4  the MTA's debt restructuring, over two years.  The

          5  MTA's intention to do this was made cleared in many

          6  forums, including this forum, offered by the City

          7  Council in January.

          8                 What is being criticized, is the

          9  MTA's prudent fiscal planning, nothing more.  Multi-

         10  year fiscal planning has been an important factor in

         11  creating the fiscal strength of the MTA.  It is one

         12  of the major reasons why our transportation services

         13  have not suffered from the feast and famine

         14  financing of so many other public services.  This

         15  process has led to the result where the average

         16  transit fare, even after the fare increase, will be

         17  less than it was in 1996.

         18                 The Comptroller's report, does not

         19  discuss the severe consequences for MTA's debt, that

         20  could result from adoption of his proposal, that he

         21  play a supervisory role, in the setting of fares,

         22  and, ultimately, because, of the connection between

         23  the two, the approval of the MTA's capital plan.

         24  That approval is now the sole responsibility of the

         25  MTA board, representatives of the State Executive,
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          2  the State Legislature, and the Mayor of this City.

          3                 The Comptroller's report, did not

          4  accurately characterize the process by which the MTA

          5  provided his office with information, nor the method

          6  that the MTA was required to use to explain it.  As

          7  the Committee is aware, audits are based on a

          8  structure back and forth analytical process, that

          9  leads to an understanding of the subject of the

         10  audit.  This was not an audit, it was a report, and,

         11  it egregiously mischaracterizes the MTA's budget

         12  process.

         13                 As you know, the MTA has been taken

         14  numerous steps in the past several months, to

         15  provide the public with greater information on its

         16  operations and finances, via the internet, as well

         17  as implementing a public email system in February

         18  for customers to access information, register

         19  complaints, and, provide suggestions for improved

         20  services.  In the next few weeks, the MTA will also

         21  be announcing new measures to continue its efforts

         22  to be more transparent, in its financial reporting

         23  and operations.

         24                 Thank you again, for the opportunity

         25  to submit this testimony.

                                                            80

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON LUI:  Thank you, Mitch

          3  for reading into the record, the written testimony

          4  that was sent in by the MTA in the absence of

          5  sending one of their representatives.  We had

          6  invited Katie Lapp (phonetic), the Executive

          7  Director of the Metropolitan Transportation

          8  Authority to appear before our hearing today.

          9                 I will conclude this afternoon's

         10  hearing by, saying, not withstanding any court

         11  decisions that are due to be rendered with regard to

         12  any temporary restraining orders, of any fare

         13  increases, or the implementation of such, it is

         14  incompetent upon, the MTA, to restore public

         15  confidence in what it is doing, by putting off any

         16  fare increase, at this time.

         17                 Thank you very much.  If there are no

         18  further witnesses, this meeting of the

         19  Transportation Committee of the City Council is

         20  adjourned.

         21                 (Hearing adjourned at 3:55 PM)
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